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Cochair Bernice Mathews at 8:03 a.m. on Monday, April 6, 2009, in 
Room 2134 of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. Exhibit A is the 
Agenda. Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file 
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COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Bernice Mathews, Cochair 
Senator Steven A. Horsford, Cochair 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Joyce Woodhouse 
Senator William J. Raggio 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
Senator Warren B. Hardy II 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Brian Burke, Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst 
Gary L. Ghiggeri, Senate Fiscal Analyst 
Patricia O'Flinn, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Greg Smith, Administrator, Division of Purchasing, Nevada Department of 

Administration 
Michael J. Pomi, Director, Washoe County Department of Juvenile Services 
Romaine Gilliland, Administrator, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, 

Department of Health and Human Services 
Miki Allard, Staff Specialist, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, 

Department of Health and Human Services 
Kevin Schiller, Director, Washoe County Department of Social Services 
George A. Ross, Representative, Las Vegas Chamber of Commerce 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
This meeting is called to order. We will open the hearing on 
Senate Bill (S.B.) 392. 
 
SENATE BILL 392: Repeals an obsolete statute relating to annual payment for 

the purchasing warehouse building and adjacent land in Las Vegas. 
(BDR 27-1212) 

 
GREG SMITH (Administrator, Division of Purchasing, Nevada Department of 

Administration): 
This bill is simple. It repeals an obsolete statute relating to the annual payment 
for the purchasing warehouse building and adjacent land in Las Vegas. On 
November 25, 2008, we transferred $170,086 to budget account 
(B/A) 101-9999 to pay off the General Fund obligation. The commodity foods 
program had a growing reserve account we used to transfer to the General Fund 
to pay off the State's obligation on that piece of property. 
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COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Are there any questions for Mr. Smith? As there are no questions, I will 
entertain a motion. 
 
 SENATOR RAGGIO MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 392. 
 
 SENATOR HARDY SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

***** 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
We will now open the hearing on S.B. 113. 
 
SENATE BILL 113 (1st Reprint): Creates statutory subcommittees of the 

Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice. (BDR 14-626) 
 
SENATOR STEVEN A. HORSFORD (Clark County Senatorial District No. 4): 
Senate Bill 113 is a recommendation from the Advisory Commission on the 
Administration of Justice. This bill creates two standing Subcommittees to the 
Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice: a Subcommittee on 
Juvenile Justice; and a Subcommittee on Victims of Crime. The creation of 
these two Subcommittees will allow the Commission to complete work left 
unfinished during the interim. There is a small fiscal note due to the impact on 
the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) staff budget. This bill was unanimously 
approved by the Senate Committee on Judiciary. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Why are two standing committees necessary in addition to the role of the 
Advisory Commission? I am concerned about the proliferation of standing 
committees during the interim. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
The Advisory Commission did not have standing committees for either juvenile 
justice or victims of crime. The Chief Justice created subcommittees for these 
subjects under his purview. The Advisory Commission believes these issues are 
of such high importance they should be addressed throughout the Commission's 
work. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Are there any other comments or questions? As there are none, we will open 
the hearing on S.B. 274. 
 
SENATE BILL 274: Creates an interdisciplinary committee to address issues 

relating to the juvenile justice system. (BDR S-627) 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Senate Bill 274 is a recommendation from three interim committees: the Interim 
Committee on Placement of Children in Foster Care; the Interim Committee on 
Health Care; and the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice under the Advisory 
Commission on the Administration of Justice. This bill creates an 
interdisciplinary committee on vulnerable youth. This Committee would consist 
of the members listed in section 1, subsections A through L. The purpose is to 
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improve coordination and streamline functions among certain agencies and 
improve the collaboration among these agencies. During the last year we 
determined there are too many "silos:" individual committees and groups 
meeting independently of other groups without maximizing information, 
resources and awareness regarding juvenile justice issues. 
 
Section 2 of S.B. 274 enumerates the charges of this interdisciplinary 
committee. It would identify and improve the best practices in juvenile justice 
based on the Juvenile Detention Alternatives Initiative (JDAI) model of the 
Annie E. Casey Foundation. The Committee would focus on several issues to 
include: efforts to reduce recidivism among juveniles; the certification of 
juveniles as adults; the transfer of juveniles to the adult criminal justice system; 
and programs available to improve and address issues dealing with sexually 
exploited youth. All of the work done by this interdisciplinary committee would 
be submitted to the Director of the LCB on or before January 15, 2011, at 
which time the act expires by limitation. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
I support this, but I am curious about the long list of issues. From which 
committee did this emanate? 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
There were three different groups. The primary source was the Subcommittee 
on Juvenile Justice of the Advisory Commission on Justice Administration, but 
the Interim Committee on the Placement of Children in Foster Care and the 
Interim Committee on Health Care also participated. Approximately 30 percent 
of the children in the Juvenile Justice System are also in the child welfare 
system. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
It has been many years since I served as a prosecutor, but it always seemed we 
were overly protective of juvenile offenders and it was a rare occurrence when 
they were certified as adults. Why is this necessary? Do we not treat juvenile 
offenders appropriately? Are we too harsh in our treatment? 
 
MICHAEL J. POMI (Director, Washoe County Department of Juvenile Services): 
Since 2004, Clark and Washoe Counties have utilized the JDAI. This initiative 
does not rely on putting youth in detention, but places them in the community 
and safely supervises them under programming. For example, in 
Washoe County, there are 108 beds available for youth detention. Three weeks 
ago, 35 of those beds were occupied. We believe in the capacity of the Juvenile 
Justice system to safely monitor children in our communities as a public safety 
order and to be less reliant on institutional care. The State bed capacity has 
been reduced by 88 youth. Parts of the Caliente Youth Center, the Nevada 
Youth Training Center in Elko and the Summit View Youth Correctional Center 
have been closed. Regarding the certification issue, research indicates you do 
not incarcerate young offenders, even chronic offenders, with adult offenders. 
Other programs are more effective. Summit View Youth Correctional Center in 
Clark County was built and opened in 1997 with beds to house serious and 
chronic youth offenders while keeping them out of the adult prison system. As 
Howard Skolnik, Director, the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) has 
testified, the worst group of people he has to monitor is the 18 to 25 year olds 
on the prison yard. Being able to build capacity through education we have a 
great Juvenile Justice System in the State of Nevada and we are getting better. 
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We need to make the process of working with the youth in our communities 
throughout our State more seamless. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
You mentioned the Washoe County facility; are you talking about Wittenberg 
Hall? How many beds are in that facility? 
 
MR. POMI: 
There are 108 beds. In 2004, the average daily population was 79, in 2006 it 
was 54, and in 2008 it was 57. Clark County has also reduced the average 
daily population from the 260s, to 188, to 190. The Zenoff Hall juvenile facility 
was closed in Clark County. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Wittenberg Hall is not a detention facility; it is a facility for youth waiting to be 
processed. Has it changed? 
 
MR. POMI: 
You are correct. It is a facility for youth awaiting disposition. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
What is the average length of occupancy at Wittenberg Hall? 
 
MR. POMI: 
The average length of stay is 11 days. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
During that time the case is resolved and the youth are either confined 
elsewhere or put into some other program. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Are there any other comments or questions? Hearing none, we will close the 
hearing on S.B. 274. 
 
We will open the hearing on S.B. 341. 
 
SENATE BILL 341: Revises the list of qualifications for relatives to receive 

supportive assistance from a program to provide supportive assistance to 
qualifying relatives of children who provide care for and obtain the legal 
guardianship of those children. (BDR 38-479) 

 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Senate Bill 341 has been submitted on behalf of the Interim Study on the 
Placement of Children in Foster Care. During the fiscal year (FY) 2007-2008 
interim, pursuant to S.B. No. 356 of the 74th Session of the Legislature, the 
Commission appointed the Subcommittee to study the placement of children in 
Foster Care. The Subcommittee formulated 11 recommendations. One of those 
recommendations is S.B. 341. This bill arises from testimony received from 
representatives of the Division of Welfare and Supportive Services regarding the 
age requirement of the Kinship Care program, which is administered by the 
Welfare Division and funded with federal Temporary Assistance to Needy 
Families (TANF) funds. 
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The Kinship Care program provides maintenance payments for relatives, often 
grandparents, who become guardians of children removed from their parental 
homes by State and county child welfare agencies. The Kinship Care program 
was instituted by the 2001 Legislature and has always included a minimum age 
requirement of 62 for participating relatives. Welfare Division representatives 
indicated the age requirement is an arbitrary standard. It is eligible to be waived 
when undue hardship can be demonstrated, including cases involving difficult 
placements such as sibling groups and children with special needs. Additionally, 
placement into the Kinship Care program is sometimes initiated through the 
TANF Non-Needy Caretaker program when legal guardianships are obtained or 
hardship waivers are processed. Representatives of the Annie E. Casey 
Foundation programs provided assistance and testimony on the use and success 
of Kinship Care programs in other states. 
 
The Interim Study Commission members expressed concern regarding the age 
limit of the Kinship Care program which could result in the exclusion of relatives 
who would otherwise be qualified guardians for children. The use of an existing 
waiver for the age requirement is a helpful aspect of the program, but can also 
cause a delay in placements while the waiver process is completed. This bill 
would remove the age requirement completely, although an income limit and a 
requirement that relatives become legal guardians would remain in place. 
 
Testimony by Welfare Division representatives heard in the Senate Committee 
on Health and Education indicated that the removal of the age requirement 
would create a substantial fiscal note. Nevertheless, it was necessary to bring 
this bill forward for two reasons. The first is the State could continue to be 
obligated for significant Foster Care payments by not using the Kinship Care 
program. The second reason this bill remains important despite the fiscal note, 
is because it is the right thing to do for children. Senate Bill 341 would remove 
the age requirement, but this Committee may need to add some qualifiers or 
conditions on the bill based on the testimony from the Welfare Division. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Why is the fiscal note $8 million? Why does the change in the age requirement 
cost so much? 
 
ROMAINE GILLILAND (Administrator, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, 

Department of Health and Human Services): 
The level of benefits available through the Kinship Care program is substantially 
higher than the level available through the Non-Needy Caretaker program. When 
we prepared the fiscal note, we assumed all Non-Needy Caretaker participants 
would be transferred to the Kinship Care program at the higher rate of monthly 
benefits. The resulting cost would be $8 million each year. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Can you explain that again? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
The Non-Needy Caretaker benefits are at a lower rate than the Kinship Care 
program benefits. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Why would they transfer from one program to another? 
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MR. GILLILAND: 
They would have the option of transferring if they obtained guardianship. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
It is not an automatic transfer. Are you going to send them into the new 
program? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
If all the people who are currently eligible, except for the minimum age 
requirement, took the option of obtaining guardianship and transferring into the 
Kinship Care program on their own initiative, the economic result would be the 
$8 million each year in the fiscal note. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
From what funds are the Non-Needy Caretaker benefits currently paid? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
They are currently paid out of the TANF program. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
The cost would be $8 million in addition to what they are currently paid? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
Correct. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
If no one transferred, what would the fiscal impact be? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
The fiscal impact would be zero. There are currently 2,361 cases eligible to be 
transferred from the Non-Needy Caretaker program to the Kinship Care program. 
If 100 percent of those cases were to receive guardianship, the increase in 
benefits would be $8 million each year. The Committee should note the TANF 
block grant funds are being fully utilized in the current biennium, so a General 
Fund appropriation would be required for the increase in funding. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Is the Kinship Care program benefit less than Foster Care payments? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
Yes, the Kinship Care program is set at 90 percent of the Foster Care rate. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
If the Foster Care payments are higher, why do these people remain in the 
Kinship Care program? 
 
MR. GILLILAND: 
They have elected to care for the child rather than put the child in Foster Care. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
I do not understand why the cost would increase so drastically. 
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MIKI ALLARD (Staff Specialist, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, 

Department of Health and Human Services): 
Licensure is an issue when it comes to Foster Care. Many of the families who 
elect to enter the Non-Needy Caretaker or Kinship Care programs either cannot 
become licensed due to the licensure requirements or choose not to. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
That is also disturbing. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
This bill was crafted by a technical workgroup of the Study on the Placement of 
Children in Foster Care. Despite the fiscal note, there are potential savings from 
the Foster Care System. The State can end up paying more for Foster Care and 
the results for the welfare of the child are not as good as the Kinship Care 
program. Perhaps the fiscal staff can give the Committee an analysis of the pros 
and cons from a fiscal note standpoint. 
 
The arbitrary age of 62 is exclusionary. I have had constituents who are 45 and 
willing to care for a child but are unable to do so financially. This bill would help 
that family. 
 
KEVIN SCHILLER (Director, Washoe County Department of Social Services): 
We are in support of this bill. There has been a significant effort in the last three 
and a half to four years to engage families more quickly in the system, to keep 
children out of the Foster Care System. One tactic is to move towards 
guardianship when reunification is unsuccessful. It is commonly known that 
when a child is placed into the system and the family must petition through 
legal intervention, it is more difficult to get the child home. We have started a 
family solutions team process engaging families at the point of intervention. 
This includes a mandatory meeting with an independent facilitator within 
72 hours. The result has been a significant increase in the number of relatives 
who have attained licensure. Under Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 424, 
waivers are available. Some of these relatives end up having to push for 
termination of parental rights in order to adopt rather than seek guardianship 
which would be more appropriate. They need the post-adoption financial 
stability. Money invested by the State on the front end will significantly impact 
the money on the back end related to the Foster Care payments. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
Can you tell me the costs for the younger people who have been waived? 
 
MR. SCHILLER: 
I do not have that information with me, but I can follow up for the Committee. 
Over the last two years, there has been a 35-percent to 40-percent increase in 
the number of relatives licensed. They receive the State Foster Care rate. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
They are treated as foster parents rather than kin. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
I would like to see an analysis of the costs of the Foster Care System compared 
with the Kinship Care program. Perhaps some adjustments can be made to the 
bill, recognizing the budget constraints. 
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COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 341. 
 
We will open the hearing on S.B. 346. 
 
SENATE BILL 346: Revises provisions relating to state financial administration. 

(BDR 31-900) 
 
GARY L. GHIGGERI (Senate Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative 

Counsel Bureau): 
Senate Bill 346 was introduced by the Senate Committee on Finance. It places 
requirements on the Chief of the Budget Division to conduct an evaluation of 
each agency's performance based on the measurement indicators submitted by 
each agency for review. The bill further directs the Chief to consult with the 
State agencies to develop the required measurement indicators and procedures 
for the collection, review, calculation and retention of data to measure the 
agencies' performance based on the indicators. As the Committee may recall, 
Legislative auditors conducted an audit of performance indicators in 2002. The 
result of that audit indicated some agencies did not maintain sufficient data to 
validate the performance indicators used in the development of the 
Executive Budget. Section 1 of S.B. 346 becomes effective July 1, 2009 and 
expires on June 30, 2011. Section 2 of the legislation becomes effective 
July 1, 2011 and requires the budgets submitted by the agencies for the 
2011-2013 biennium to include the new performance indicators to be used in 
developing the budget. 
 
The Budget Division submitted a fiscal note indicating they would require the 
addition of a staff person to implement the legislation, $200,000 in 
FY 2009-2010 for consulting contracts and $90,000 to revise their budget 
system to accommodate the Legislation. 
 
COCHAIR HORSFORD: 
Can you explain how this will complement what is currently being done? What 
direction does this bill give to agency heads about what they are expected to 
bring forward in the next budget process? 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
I hope the legislation would result in more meaningful performance indicators to 
be included in the Executive Budget so the Legislature can determine if the 
programs implemented are accomplishing the goals they intended. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Is this bill exempt? 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
This bill will be exempted on the floor of the Senate this morning. 
 
COCHAIR HORSFORD: 
This bill is important. I have tried to examine the performance indicators as each 
agency comes before the Committee. Some agencies have clear, measurable 
indicators while others appear arbitrary or unrelated to the agency's purpose. To 
evaluate the effectiveness of State government we must have these types of 
indicators in place. 
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SENATOR RHOADS: 
Is this in the Governor's Budget? 
 
MR. GHIGGERI: 
This is not in the Governor's Budget. 
 
GEORGE A. ROSS (Representative, Las Vegas Chamber of Commerce): 
I agree this bill is important. We often hear the cliché that government should be 
run as a business. Much of what government does, especially in these times, is 
not what a business does. However, there are aspects of business practices we 
can apply to government and this is an excellent example. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 346. 
 
We will open the hearing on S.B. 174. 
 
SENATE BILL 174: Exempts certain retired public employees who are serving as 
volunteer firefighters from certain consequences of reemployment with a public 
employer. (BDR 23-768) 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS: 
We originally heard this bill on April 3, 2009. Is there any further discussion on 
this bill? 
 
 SENATOR RHOADS MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 174. 
 
 SENATOR COFFIN SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED (SENATOR HARDY WAS ABSENT FOR THE 

VOTE). 
 

***** 
 
COCHAIR HORSFORD: 
On behalf of the Senate Committee on Finance, I would like to make two special 
presentations. 
 
Senator Bill Raggio was Chair of the Senate Finance Committee from 1987 until 
2007, with a brief hiatus in 1991 when the Democrats held power in the 
Senate. Senator Raggio instituted many of the arrangements this Committee 
now takes for granted. In recognition of his devotion to the institution of the 
Legislature and his efforts to make it work better, I would like to present this 
plaque as a small memento.  
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Usually those kinds of remarks are reserved for obituaries. This means a lot 
more than you will ever know. Over the 20 years I was chair of the Finance 
Committee, I was privileged to work with a good group of people from both 
parties. The staff of the Senate Finance Committee was, and still is, 
outstanding. 
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COCHAIR HORSFORD: 
The other presentation is to our current Chair, Senator Bernice Mathews. True 
leaders show their leadership qualities quickly. First elected to the State Senate 
in 1994, she was chosen as Minority Whip in 1999. She has served on the 
Senate Committee on Finance since 1995. In recognition of her commitment to 
this Committee and the State of Nevada, I would like to present her with this 
gavel as a small token of appreciation. 
 
COCHAIR MATHEWS 
I am not good at this. Thank you. I have had a steep learning curve this session 
and you have all been supportive. I appreciate it. 
 
We have until June 1 to work, let us get to work. 
 
We will not be hearing S.B. 18 as agendized. 
 
SENATE BILL 18: Revises provisions governing speed limits in school zones and 

school crossing zones. (BDR 43-384) 
 
As there is no other business and no further testimony, this meeting is 
adjourned at 9:02 a.m. 
 
 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
 
 
 

  
Patricia O'Flinn, 
Committee Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Senator Bernice Mathews, Cochair 
 
 
DATE:  
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